IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. SC04-1019 [TFB Case No. 2004-31,883(19B)(CFC)]

v.

MARC B. COHEN,

Respo	ndent.
-------	--------

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5600 Attorney No. 123390

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5600 Attorney No. 253847

AND

SHEILA MARIE TUMA Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 1200 Edgewater Drive Orlando, Florida 32804-6314 (407)425-5424 Attorney No. 196223

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 21, 2004, The Florida Bar filed its Notice of Determination or Judgment of Guilt citing respondent's May 19, 2004 plea to a felony marijuana possession charge and five misdemeanor counts of driving under the influence, possession of drug paraphernalia, fleeing and eluding officers, resisting arrest without violence and reckless driving.

On June 29, 2004, respondent filed a Petition to Stay Felony Suspension and Motion to Appoint Referee. The Bar filed its response on July 12, 2004. On September 10, 2004, this Court issued an order referring this matter to a referee for hearing. On September 17, 2004, The Honorable Brandt C. Downey, III was appointed as referee, and he conducted a hearing on January 21, 2005.

The referee entered his report on March 3, 2005, finding that pursuant to Rule Regulating The Florida Bar 3-7.2(b), the judgment pertaining to respondent's felony plea is "conclusive proof of guilt of the criminal offense(s) charged for the purposes of [the disciplinary] rules." The referee recommended that respondent be placed on probation for a period of three years during which respondent shall remain in compliance with his Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc. contract, he shall completely abstain from alcohol and be tested for alcohol as well as any other controlled substance not otherwise prescribed, and he shall be required to make 12

speaking engagements per year of probation with regard to his mental health, substance abuse and criminal acts.

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar considered the report of referee at its April 2005 meeting and voted to seek enhancement of the discipline to a 90-day suspension (with credit for 30 days that respondent served in jail) and a three year period of probation. The Bar then filed its Petition for Review on April 14, 2005.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 11, 2002, respondent was arrested in Martin County, Florida, and he was subsequently charged with felony counts of fleeing and eluding police, leaving the scene of an accident with injuries, resisting arrest with violence, and possession of a controlled substance (B-Ex. 2). Respondent was also charged with misdemeanor counts of reckless driving, driving while under the influence of alcohol, two counts of causing property damage while under the influence, and possession of drug paraphernalia (B-Ex. 2).

Prior to his arrest, respondent was driving in the wrong direction on Interstate 95 at 90 miles an hour (T p. 140, B-Ex. 2). The trooper activated his blue lights and sirens and attempted to overtake respondent's vehicle (T p. 140, B-Ex. 2).

Respondent continued driving, and an oncoming car was forced to swerve to avoid being hit (T p. 141, B-Ex. 2). The oncoming car struck another vehicle, and then hit a cement barrier (T p. 141, B-Ex. 2). After respondent came to a stop and exited his vehicle, he failed to respond to the trooper's repeated commands to stop or turn around (T p. 142, B-Ex. 2). The trooper drew his gun when he noticed respondent reaching into his pocket (T p. 142, B-Ex. 2). Respondent had to be forcefully restrained, and he refused to take a breath test (T pp. 142, 144, B-Ex. 2). A search of respondent's vehicle revealed 71 grams of marijuana, a pipe, and an extensive

amount of drug paraphernalia (T pp. 136, 143, B-Ex. 2). The drug paraphernalia included about 30 packs of rolling papers, several pipes, screens, pipe cleaners, film cases with seeds in them, rolling machines, more than 50 empty plastic bags, and the plastic bags containing marijuana (T p. 145).

On May 19, 2004, respondent entered a plea of nolo contendere to a felony marijuana possession charge and five misdemeanor counts of driving under the influence, possession of drug paraphernalia, fleeing and eluding officers, resisting arrest without violence, and reckless driving (ROR p. A1, T p. 7). On May 24, 2004, the Honorable Burton C. Conner entered an order adjudging respondent guilty of driving under the influence and withholding adjudication on the remaining charges including the felony charge of possessing more than 20 grams of marijuana (ROR p. A2, T p. 7). Judge Conner sentenced respondent to 30 days in jail and 1 year drug offender probation followed by 2 years of probation (ROR p. A2, T p. 8). Respondent was also required to perform 100 hours of free legal services, 50 hours of community service, pay fines, and relinquish his driver's license for six months (ROR p. A2, T p. 8). Respondent entered into a contract with Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc. shortly after his arrest, and he has been in compliance (ROR p. A2, T p. 62).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The discipline recommended by the referee, a three year period of probation, is insufficient considering the serious nature of respondent's misconduct. There is no relevant case law to support less than a 90-day suspension when an attorney has pled to any crime or offense that is a felony. The cases cited by the referee to support his recommendation of probation involve misdemeanor criminal conduct, and these cases are not applicable to respondent's fact pattern. Furthermore, the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions in Drug Cases support a 90-day suspension and a three year period of probation to resolve this matter.

Respondent's criminal conduct did not simply involve the personal use of illegal substances. Respondent also fled from the police, he caused a serious car accident involving injuries, and he resisted arrest. Prior to his arrest, respondent was intoxicated and driving in the wrong direction on Interstate 95 at 90 miles an hour. In its previous decisions, this Court has suspended attorneys for similar criminal misconduct and has held that attorneys are required to conduct themselves in accordance with the law. Respondent's misconduct reflects negatively on the reputation and dignity of the legal profession, and no less than a 90-day suspension would be appropriate to impress respondent with the seriousness of his misconduct and fulfill the goals of discipline.

ARGUMENT

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE, A THREE YEAR PERIOD OF PROBATION, IS INSUFFICIENT CONSIDERING THE SERIOUS NATURE OF RESPONDENT'S MISCONDUCT. CASES PREVIOUSLY DECIDED BY THIS COURT TOGETHER WITH THE FLORIDA STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS, SUPPORT THE IMPOSITION OF A 90-DAY SUSPENSION AND A THREE YEAR PERIOD OF PROBATION.

"When reviewing a referee's recommended discipline, this Court's scope of review is broader than that afforded to the referee's findings of fact because, ultimately, it is the Court's responsibility to order an appropriate sanction." The Florida Bar v. Spear, 887 So.2d 1242, 1246 (Fla. 2004). As a general rule, the Court will not second-guess a referee's recommendation of discipline as long as the discipline is authorized under the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and has a reasonable basis in existing case law. Id. at 1246. The Bar maintains that the discipline recommended by the referee, a three year period of probation, is not supported by the existing case law or the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

A three year probationary term, without suspension, is not consistent with the disposition of other similar cases, especially considering the egregious circumstances concerning respondent's criminal misconduct. A judgment must be fair to society, fair to the respondent, and severe enough to deter others who may be

tempted to become involved in like violations. Spear 887 So.2d at 1246, citing The Florida Bar v. Lord, 433 So.2d. 983, 986 (Fla. 1983). A suspension of no less than 90-days would sufficiently address respondent's misconduct and act as an effective deterrent.

In The Florida Bar v. Weintraub, 528 So.2d 367 (Fla. 1988), an attorney received a 90-day suspension and a two year period of probation for illegal possession and delivery of cocaine. The attorney pled nolo contendere to a charge of delivery of cocaine, and adjudication of guilt was withheld. The referee rejected Weintraub's recommendation that he receive a private reprimand coupled with a period of probation for the following reasons: 1) such a disciplinary measure was "far too lenient for a knowing and intentional commission of a crime by an officer of the court;" 2) Weintraub "took no steps to disengage himself from illegal drugs until after his apprehension;" and 3) such a disciplinary measure would not serve as an adequate deterrent to other members of the Bar from "engaging in or contemplating engaging in illegal drug activities." Id. at 369. This Court approved the referee's report and recommendation as to the appropriate discipline. The referee's reasoning in Weintraub proves particularly instructive to the instant case, and this Court should likewise recommend that respondent receive a 90-day suspension.

Similarly, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Temmer</u>, 632 So.2d 1359 (Fla. 1994), an attorney received a 90-day suspension for possession of cocaine. Like respondent and the attorney in <u>Weintraub</u>, Temmer had no prior disciplinary record, she sought professional assistance for her drug use, and her competence to practice law was not at issue.

In his report, the referee cites several cases which are readily distinguishable from respondent's fact pattern. The drug and alcohol abuse in The Florida Bar v. Blau, 630 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 1994), The Florida Bar v. Dubbeld, 594 So.2d 735 (Fla. 1992), The Florida Bar v. Allen, 518 So.2d 916 (Fla. 1988), and The Florida Bar v. Fields, 520 So.2d 272 (Fla. 1988) did not result in felony charges, and the criminal misconduct detailed in the aforementioned cases was far less egregious than respondent's conduct. In the instant matter, respondent was charged with multiple felony and misdemeanor counts (B-Ex. 2). Respondent was driving under the influence of alcohol, he fled from the police, he caused a serious car accident involving injuries, he resisted arrest, and he possessed over twenty grams of marijuana and an extensive amount of drug paraphernalia (T pp. 133, 140-145, B-Ex. 2).

It should not be ignored that this Court has approved discipline greater than a 90-day suspension for criminal behavior similar to respondent's misconduct. In

The Florida Bar v. Thompson, 500 So.2d 1335 (Fla. 1987), an attorney was suspended for 91-days after pleading no contest to possession of cocaine, possession of a controlled substance, disorderly intoxication, and leaving the scene of an accident. Like respondent, Thompson was implicated in an automobile accident. A search of his car revealed a small glass vial containing cocaine, a spoon, and a pill bottle containing Darvon, a controlled substance. Rather than resisting arrest as respondent did, Thompson apparently feigned unconsciousness in order to be taken to the hospital rather than to jail. <u>Id</u>. at 1335.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Finkelstein</u>, 522 So.2d 372 (Fla. 1988), this Court accepted the attorney's consent judgment for a one-year suspension after he pled nolo contendere to felony charges of possession of illegal drugs and the misdemeanor of driving under the influence. Adjudication of guilt was withheld on the felony charges, and Finkelstein was placed on probation for five years. This Court also accepted a consent judgment for a one-year suspension in <u>The Florida Bar v. Schram</u>, 355 So.2d 788 (Fla. 1978). Schram admitted being adjudicated guilty of misdemeanor possession of drug paraphernalia and admitted guilt to a felony quantity of marijuana, for which adjudication was withheld.

Since the referee found that respondent has proven rehabilitation (ROR p. A9), a suspension exceeding 90 days may not be necessary in this matter. Despite

the evidence of rehabilitation, there is still no reasonable basis in existing case law to support less than a 90-day suspension for respondent's criminal misconduct.

A 90-day suspension with a three year period of probation is also supported by the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions in Drug Cases, as outlined by the referee. In his report, the referee considered Standard 10.3, which provides:

- 10.3 Absent the existence of aggravating factors, the appropriate discipline for an attorney found guilty of felonious conduct as defined by Florida state law involving the personal use and/or possession of a controlled substance who has sought and obtained assistance from F.L.A., Inc., or a treatment program approved by F.L.A., Inc., as described in paragraph one above, would be as follows:
 - a. A suspension from the practice of law for a period of 91 days or 90 days if rehabilitation has been proven; and
 - b. A three-year period of probation, subject to possible early termination or extension of said probation, with a condition that the attorney enter into a rehabilitation contract with F.L.A., Inc. prior to reinstatement.

(Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 10.3, ROR pp. A8-A9).

The referee determined that since respondent has established rehabilitation, the presumptive sanction is a 90-day suspension (ROR p. A9). However, the referee found that "the extraordinary showing of mitigating circumstances and the absence of any aggravating factors, justifies a reduction of this sanction" (ROR p. A9). Although the referee found no aggravation, the Standards for Imposing

Lawyer Sanctions in Drug Cases specifically provide that a 90-day suspension is appropriate "absent the existence of aggravating factors." (emphasis added) Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 10.3.

Furthermore, the Bar is not disputing the referee's finding that respondent has shown rehabilitation. The Bar is challenging the referee's recommendation that respondent's misconduct merely warrants probation, even though the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions in Drug Cases expressly call for a 90-day suspension. When approving a 90-day suspension for drug related misconduct in <u>Temmer</u>, this Court specifically considered Standard 10.3(a) (suspension for 90 days if rehabilitation has been proven). 632 So.2d at 1360.

In mitigation, the referee found that "Respondent's disciplinary proceeding concerns Respondent's criminal conduct and does not relate to the practice of law" (ROR p. A6). The Bar contends that respondent's actions do not comport with the high standard of conduct of those who have the privilege of holding a bar license and who have sworn, as members of the Bar, to uphold the law. In Weintraub, this Court approved the referee's report which noted that "[a]ttorneys are officers of the court and as such are expected by the bar, the bench and public to conduct themselves in accordance with the law." 528 So.2d at 369.

In recommending the disciplinary sanction of probation, the referee stated:

We could, I guess, go through the charade in my opinion of saying that he's suspended for 30 days and give him credit for the 30 days he spent in jail, but in my mind it is just that. He did the time. Nobody - - you know, it's not contested that he spent, you know, 28 days in jail and then sat in his office for another three without practicing. Yes. You know his name is on the letterhead and his name was on the door, and his name was still on the bank accounts, but, you know, I'm not going to particularly worry about that. I think that three years of continued supervision by the Bar in my mind will be sufficient for him (T p. 167).

The Bar recognizes that respondent spent 30 days in jail in regard to his criminal case; however, "[d]isciplinary proceedings are not concerned with the issues addressed in criminal or civil proceedings. Rather disciplinary proceedings are concerned with violations of ethical responsibilities imposed on an attorney as a member of The Florida Bar." The Florida Bar v. Garland, 651 So.2d 1182, 1183 (Fla. 1995), citing The Florida Bar v. Swickle, 589 So.2d 901, 905 (Fla. 1991). The Bar submits that the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar allow an attorney to be disciplined for criminal conduct regardless of whether the act was committed in the course of the attorney's relations as an attorney (Rule 3-4.3) and regardless of whether the attorney has been tried, acquitted, or convicted in a court for the alleged criminal offense (Rule 3-4.4). Indeed, this Court stated that "[i]n a case resulting from a criminal conviction, discipline is imposed in addition to the criminal penalty already exacted in the criminal case." The Florida Bar v. Hellinger, 620 So.2d 993,

996 (Fla. 1993).

Although bar disciplinary proceedings may share some of the same goals as criminal proceedings (punishment, deterrence, protection of society), they do so in the context of enforcing the higher standard of duty and conduct required of those who exercise the privilege of practicing law. The Florida Bar v. Musleh, 453 So.2d 794, 796 (Fla. 1984). The practice of law is a privilege, not a right, and is revocable for cause. Petition of Wolf, 257 So.2d 547, 548 (Fla. 1972). Even when not acting as an attorney, attorneys must "avoid tarnishing the professional image or damaging the public." The Florida Bar v. Della-Donna, 583 So.2d 307, 310 (Fla. 1991), quoting The Florida Bar v. Bennett, 276 So.2d 481, 482 (Fla. 1973). In addition to damaging the professional image of attorneys, respondent's misconduct actually harmed members of the public. While respondent was fleeing from the trooper, an oncoming car was forced to swerve to avoid being hit (T p. 141, B-Ex. 2). The oncoming car struck another vehicle, and then hit a cement barrier (T p. 141, B-Ex. 2). As a result of the crash, both vehicles sustained substantial property damage (B-Ex. 2). Both drivers were subsequently taken to the emergency room (T p. 133). In his testimony, respondent admitted that he had not contacted either victim to apologize for his wrongdoing (T p. 133).

When choosing to increase discipline recommended by a referee, this Court

has stated that "if the discipline does not measure up to the gravity of the offense, the whole disciplinary process becomes a sham to the attorneys who are regulated by it." The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 425 So.2d 2, 4 (Fla. 1983). The referee's recommendation of a three year period of probation is disproportionate to the level of respondent's egregious criminal misconduct. The nature of respondent's misconduct reflects adversely on the reputation and dignity of the legal profession and merits no less than a 90-day suspension and a three year period of probation.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar submits that respondent should be sanctioned to a 90-day suspension (with credit for 30 days that respondent served in jail), a three year period of probation as outlined by the referee, and payment of costs now totaling \$1,680.07.