IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

CASE NO. SC04-1019 TFB Case No. 2004-31,883(19B)(CFC)

MARC B. COHEN,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

SCOTT K. TOZIAN, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 253510 GWENDOLYN H. HINKLE, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 083062 SMITH, TOZIAN & HINKLE, P.A. 109 North Brush Street Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 273-0063 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Almost three years ago, Respondent suffered from an undiagnosed obsessive compulsive disorder and was dependent on alcohol and marijuana. Respondent protected his law practice while his family life was destroyed. His marriage was ending and his teenage daughter had attempted to commit suicide. Respondent's drug abuse culminated on the night of his arrest. Three days later, Respondent contacted F.L.A., Inc. and began the arduous task of rehabilitation. The Bar does not dispute Respondent's rehabilitation and does not seek a rehabilitative suspension.

The Referee recognized that the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions "promote flexibility and creativity to assign sanctions" for each unique situation and found extraordinary mitigating circumstances. The Referee noted Respondent's incarceration effectively suspended him for thirty days and found that no further suspension was warranted, recommending three years of probation with monitoring by F.L.A., Inc. The Bar recognizes Respondent should be given credit for the time he could not practice during his jail term and concedes Respondent is not a danger to his clients. The Referee's recommendation that Respondent be required to make thirty-six speaking engagements, discussing his criminal charges, his substance abuse and his mental health issues is a meaningful deterrent to others. The Bar's request to impose an additional sixty day suspension is solely punitive and does not serve the interests of lawyer discipline.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>The Referee's recommended sanction is supported by the Standards</u> for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, case law and the purposes of <u>discipline</u>.

Since Respondent's convictions served as conclusive proof of guilt pursuant to Rule Regulating the Florida Bar 3-7.2(b), the Referee's sole duty was to evaluate the evidence presented to reach the appropriate sanction. The Referee heard the testimony of Judges Scott M. Kenney, Peter M. Evans, Henry J. Andringa, William L. Roby and David C. Morgan, two of Respondent's major clients, Respondent's treating psychologist, the assistant director of F.L.A., Inc., Respondent's A.A. sponsor, another lawyer in his firm and the arresting officer. In reaching his conclusions, the Referee noted that Respondent's jail time effectively suspended Respondent since he was precluded from practicing law, even though a suspension was not formally imposed. (RR. A7). The Referee recommended to this Court that no additional suspension was warranted. (RR. A7).

The Referee recommended a three year term of probation with the following special conditions:

...Respondent shall remain in compliance with his F.L.A. contract for the full term of his probation. Second, Respondent shall completely abstain from alcohol and shall be tested for alcohol as well as any other controlled substance not otherwise prescribed. Third, in addition to the community service previously ordered as a condition of his criminal sentence, Respondent shall be required to make 12 speaking engagements per year of probation with regard to his mental health, substance abuse and criminal acts and his efforts to rehabilitate himself.

(RR. A7-A8).

The Florida Bar does not dispute the Referee's finding that Respondent has affirmatively established rehabilitation from his substance abuse and therefore, concedes that rehabilitative suspension is not warranted. (I.B. 11). Given the exemplary reputation as described by the judges before whom Respondent practices, combined with the testimony from his major corporate clients regarding Respondent's progress and excellent work product, the Bar cannot show that he is a danger to the public. Instead, the Bar's sole basis for requesting the Court to impose a ninety day suspension, with credit for the thirty days of incarceration, is to punish Respondent. However, all of the facts and circumstances, as found by the Referee, demonstrate that Respondent has been sufficiently punished.

In the past two years and ten months since his arrest, Respondent has honorably worked to rectify his past mistakes. Two days after his arrest, Respondent sought mental health counseling to address his previously undiagnosed obsessive compulsive personality disorder as well as to address substantial family problems pertaining to his divorce and the hospitalization and attempted suicide of his teenage daughter. (T. 49, 116-117). Three days after his arrest, he met with

F.L.A., Inc. (T. 58). Respondent diligently pursued treatment with a substance abuse counselor, met with his F.L.A., Inc. monitor, and at the final hearing had passed forty monthly random drug screens. (T. 112, 120). Respondent candidly disclosed his misconduct and his efforts to seek treatment to his clients, knowing they might have chosen to terminate their relationship. (T. 95, 106; Resp. Comp. Exh. G). Respondent contacted the judges before whom he regularly practiced to answer any questions or concerns they had about him. Respondent was limited to calling five judicial character witnesses and all five judges testified to Respondent's superior reputation. (RR. A4-A5). To protect his bar license, Respondent accepted the criminal trial judge's offer of a thirty day jail sentence, on the condition that his adjudication would be withheld on the felony possession of marijuana charge rather than the alternative of an adjudication of guilt on the felony offense with no jail time. (RR. A2). A further suspension would devastate Respondent's law practice. (T. 125). After considering the totality of the circumstances, it is respectfully submitted that the Bar's requested sanction is unnecessarily punitive.

This Court has recognized that the "debilitating effects of substance abuse" can mitigate sanctions for lawyer misconduct that would otherwise seriously question a lawyer's "fitness to practice law." <u>See Florida Bar v. Sommers</u>, 508 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 1987); <u>Florida Bar v. Wells</u>, 602 So. 2d 1236 (Fla. 1992). The attorneys in <u>Sommers</u> and <u>Wells</u> essentially abandoned their practices, committing numerous ethical violations causing injuries to their clients, and neglected to adhere to the trust accounting rules. In addition, the attorney in <u>Wells</u> was arrested for driving under the influence and subsequently arrested for possession of cocaine and the attorney in <u>Sommers</u> suffered from "unspecified substance abuse." <u>Wells</u> at 1236; <u>Sommers</u> at 342. In both cases, the sanctions were greatly mitigated due to the existence of substance abuse.

Consideration of an attorney's illegal substance abuse as a mitigating circumstance clearly promotes the Court's stated objective of "encouraging reformation and rehabilitation." Wells at 1239; Sommers at 343. Similarly, Respondent's diagnosis of obsessive compulsive disorder combined with his dependence on marijuana and alcohol mitigates Respondent's criminal law violations. In this case, the criminal charges are not accompanied by other misconduct directly related to the practice of law. Respondent struggled to maintain his superior reputation in the legal community while at the same time, his personal family life deteriorated to the extent that he blamed himself for his daughter's attempted suicide. The Bar seeks an additional suspension asserting that his conduct did not just involve personal substance abuse but also included driving under the influence, reckless driving, fleeing and eluding, and resisting officers without violence. (I.B. 5, 13-14). While Respondent acknowledges that

his criminal misconduct justifies a disciplinary sanction, his terrible judgment was directly related to his severe chemical dependency and further impaired by his extremely troubling personal circumstances.

The Referee's recommended sanction strikes the appropriate balance between protecting the public, imposing punishment, deterring other lawyers and encouraging reformation and rehabilitation. The Referee carefully examined the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions for drug cases, the disposition of similar offenses and the purposes of discipline as set forth in <u>Florida Bar v. Lord</u>, 433 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1983). The bases supporting the Referee's recommended sanction are discussed below.

A. The Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions support the recommended sanction.

As the Referee noted, the Standards were constructed to "permit 'flexibility and creativity in assigning sanctions in particular cases of lawyer misconduct." (RR. A8; <u>quoting</u> Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 1.3). While the Standards provide a guideline for the appropriate sanction, the sanction is not fixed. Rather, the Court has discretion to increase or decrease the presumptive sanction depending on the facts presented. In order to promote "flexibility and creativity," the Standards encourage the Referee to examine all of the circumstances surrounding the misconduct. <u>See</u> Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 3.0. Similarly, The Florida Bar's publication commenting on Standard 10 recognizes that the sanction for felony personal drug use should depend on the application of mitigating and aggravating circumstances. In pertinent part, The Florida Bar's commentary states, "[a] lawyer engaging in misdemeanor or felonious conduct, involving controlled substances, will be suspended from the practice of law. The length of the suspension may be influenced by mitigating and/or aggravating factors." The Florida Bar, <u>Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions</u>, Nov. 2000 at 52-53.

The Referee considered Standard 10.3 and the extraordinary mitigating circumstances and the absence of any aggravating factors in rendering its recommendation. The Bar agrees Respondent is rehabilitated and does not seek a rehabilitative suspension. In addition, the Bar does not suggest that the mitigating factors are unsupported by the record and never argued to the Referee that mitigating circumstances were irrelevant. Indeed, there is ample evidence warranting the finding of each mitigating factor. The Referee found the following mitigating factors:

1. <u>Absence of a Prior Disciplinary Record</u>. Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.32(a). Respondent was admitted in April 1978 and has practiced for over twenty-six years without any disciplinary history. <u>Absence of Dishonest or Selfish Motive</u>. Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.32(b). Respondent's disciplinary proceeding concerns Respondent's criminal conduct and does not relate to the practice of law.
 <u>Personal or Emotional Problems</u>. Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.32(c). Respondent's personal life was in turmoil due to marital discord and the attempted suicide of his daughter, which exacerbated his dependence on controlled substances and alcohol.

4. <u>Timely good faith effort to rectify consequences of</u> <u>misconduct</u>. Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.32(d). Respondent constructively examined and confronted not only his chemical dependency issues, but also his underlying personal issues. Respondent contacted F.L.A., Inc. within three days of his arrest and he followed all of F.L.A., Inc.'s recommendations without complaint. Further, Respondent immediately began treatment with a counselor to address his personal and familial relationships that were in crisis.

5. Cooperative attitude toward proceedings. Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.32(e). Respondent's testimony, demeanor, rehabilitation efforts and candor to the judges before whom he regularly appears establish his cooperative attitude toward these proceedings. 6. Character or Reputation. Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.32(g). The testimony of judges and documentary evidence from other lawyers in the community convincingly establish Respondent's superior reputation for legal ability and professionalism. 7. Physical or Mental Disability or Impairment. Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.32(h). At the time of his arrest, Respondent's untreated obsessive-compulsive disorder combined with alcohol and drug use affected his judgment. While not excusing the criminal conduct, these impairments should be considered in assessing his behavior.

8. <u>Interim rehabilitation</u>. Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.32(j). Respondent has proven his rehabilitation through the testimony of the representatives from Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc. and through his treating psychologist . His sobriety has been confirmed through monthly random urine screens for the past twenty-seven months.

 <u>Imposition of other Penalties or Sanctions</u>. Fla. Stds.
 Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.32(k). At the time of Respondent's plea, Respondent was offered the choice between an adjudication of his felony possession of drug charge without jail time or a withhold of adjudication with a thirty-day jail sentence. In order to preserve his civil rights, Respondent accepted the jail term.
 Respondent's jail sentence also effectively suspended his ability to practice law for thirty days.
 <u>Remorse</u>. Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.32(l).
 Respondent has demonstrated remorse through his testimony, the testimony of his witnesses and his conduct in seeking treatment to rectify his dependency and mental health issues.

(RR. A6-A7).

Rather than contesting the applicability of the mitigating factors, the Bar urges the Court to simply ignore the mitigating circumstances and automatically impose a ninety day suspension, with credit for Respondent's thirty day jail sentence. By urging the Court to disregard the mitigating circumstances, the Bar advocates abandoning the Court's well-established policy purposes specifically set forth in Standard 1.3 and even its own published policy recognizing the application of mitigating and aggravating circumstances in felony drug use cases. The Bar argues that Standard 10.3 requires, as an absolute minimum, a ninety day suspension any time there is a determination of guilt and asserts that the Referee and the Court are precluded from considering mitigating circumstances. (I.B. 10-11). Pursuant to the Bar's logic, mitigating circumstances should not be applied to Respondent's case because he pled to possessing a felony amount of marijuana. On the other hand, according to the same analysis, mitigating circumstances would be applicable for a lawyer who possessed a felony amount of marijuana but entered a pre-trial diversionary program (such as drug court), or achieved the dismissal of charges on grounds unrelated to the merits of the case (such as an exclusionary remedy, speedy trial violation, discovery violation or unavailability of a witness).

A conviction (via a determination of guilt or an adjudication) does not change the underlying misconduct. It merely provides the Bar with a convenient method of proving the disciplinary violation since it serves as conclusive proof of guilt. <u>See</u> R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.2(b). A dismissal (either as a remedy for a constitutional violation or the successful completion of a diversionary program) does not preclude The Florida Bar from investigating and seeking the imposition of discipline for the criminal conduct. As the Bar notes in its Initial Brief, a lawyer's felonious conduct is not excused or even mitigated by the dismissal of criminal charges. (I.B. 12)(<u>citing Florida Bar v. Garland</u>, 651 So. 2d 1182, 1183 (Fla.

23

1995)). It is inequitable and nonsensical to permit the consideration of mitigating circumstances for felony conduct in which a conviction or determination of guilt is not obtained, but prohibit a Referee from considering mitigating circumstances when a lawyer pleads to the offense.

In addition, the distinction between felony drug possession and misdemeanor drug possession can be artificial if both involve personal use. Adopting the Bar's suggested analysis, this Court could not consider mitigating circumstances if a lawyer is convicted of possessing more than twenty grams of marijuana for his personal use. However, if this same lawyer had negotiated a plea to the reduced misdemeanor charge of possessing twenty grams or less of marijuana, then mitigating circumstances would become suddenly relevant. The disparity of treatment is unjustified since both situations concern the same illegal substance and the same underlying misconduct. Regardless of the outcome of the criminal matter, the Court should carefully examine the lawyer's conduct and evaluate all of the circumstances in order to assign the appropriate sanction.

The Referee did not find any aggravating factors. Without referencing a pertinent aggravating factor, the Bar appears to argue that the circumstances of his criminal offenses justify the aggravation of the sanction. Respondent does not attempt to diminish the gravity of his action or deflect responsibility. Rather,

Respondent demonstrated remorse and shame regarding his conduct during the final hearing. (T. 116-119). Nonetheless, a few facts require clarification.

First, the Bar repeatedly states in its Initial Brief that Respondent "caused a serious accident involving injuries" when the record does not support its assertion. (I.B. 5, 8). The Bar used Respondent's convictions as "conclusive proof of guilt" pursuant to Rule 3-7.2(b). However, Respondent did not plead to any crime involving injuries. Respondent's driving under the influence charge only pertained to property damage. <u>See</u> Notice of Determination of Guilt, attachment 1 of 32, "Judgment." In addition, the Bar did not offer the testimony of anyone involved in the accident to indicate that they had been injured by Respondent. Although the other drivers went to the emergency room and were released the same day, there is no showing that they were injured. (T. 133). Respondent deeply regretted causing the car accident. (T. 116, 132). However, it is not appropriate to further aggravate the circumstances with assertions not supported by the record.

Second, the Bar cites to Respondent's interactions with the arresting officer to argue the egregiousness of this case. The Bar references Respondent's driving, his failure to react to the police sirens and his inability to follow the police officer's commands. The Trooper testified that Respondent was "extremely intoxicated," that he was not listening to his commands and was requesting the Trooper to drive him home. (T. 146-147). The Trooper's testimony was consistent with the conduct of a very impaired person, rather than an individual who was intentionally disrespectful or violent toward law enforcement.

The Referee took great care to consider and evaluate all of the circumstances. While the presumptive sanction pursuant to Standard 10.3 is a ninety day suspension since Respondent proved rehabilitation, the Referee appropriately determined the totality of the circumstances warranted a reduced sanction. The Referee's recommended sanction adheres to the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and should be accepted.

B. The Referee's recommended sanction has a reasonable basis in existing case law.

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